THIS WEDNESDAY THE 19™ DAY OF DECEMBER. 2018

SUIT NO: AK/2772016

BETWEEN -
FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF NICE N A cansd'.... COMPLAINANT

AND
I. YUSUF SAKA OLANRENWAJU

2. OLUFEMI ABIODUN OMOTOSO.............0cuvvee DEFENDANTS

JUDGMENT

\

The 17 and 2™ Defendants were arraigned before this Court by an information

dated the 22" day of February 2016, on a seven count charge with the
commission of the following offences:

COUNT 1

-

STATEMENT OF OFFENCE

THE USE OF OFFICE 10 confer corrupt advantage upon self contrary to and

punishable under Section 19 of the Corrupt Practices And Other Related
Offences Act, 2000,

PARTICULARS OF OFFENCE

OLUFEMI ABIODUN OMOTOSHO (M) on or about the 20 day of
December, 2009 or thercabout, while being a public officer used his oflice as
the Medical Director, Federal Medical Centre (FMC), Owo, Ondo State to
confer a corrupt advantage upon himself when he received the sum of Two

Million. Two hundred thousand naira (#2,200,000.00) only, paid to him from the

centre’s colfers for the purpose of funding of the expenses of the hosting of the
meeting of the Board of Federal Medical Centre, Owo, Ondo State. when no



. while bemg a publlc of'ﬁcer
Federal Medical Centre, Owo, Ondo State conier a co; Pt adv

himsell when he received the sum of Two Mllhon Four Hdndere&%_
Foar Thousand Naira(#2,464 .000) only,

paid to him from the coffers of FM(.
for the purpose of procurement of a personal 27 KVA Perkins brand sound-
proof generator sct for himself’

g COUNIT 3
STATEMENT OF OFFENCE

THF MAKING OF STATEMENTwhich is false contrary to 25 (1) (2) and
punishable under section 25(1) (b) of the Corrupt Practices And Other Related

Offences Act, 2000

PARTICULARS OF OFFENCE

OLUFEMI ABIODUN OMOTOSHO (M) in the month of October. 2009 or
thereabout, while being a public officer and the Medical Director. Federal
Medical Centre, Owo, Ondo State, made a statement W hich was false o Mossrs

- Shehu  Mghammed, Tanko Samaila Abdullihi, and
e mcmgwng officers with the Independent Corrupt Practices
~ Offences Commission, (ICPC), Abuju, when he asserted th
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giﬁs for the members of Board of the Centre which said fact he khey
| nosu(,h purchases of Christmas gilts has been undertaken
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and Other Retated
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.EE.OLUFEMI ABIODUN OMOTOSHO (M) in the month of November, 2009 or
thereabout. while being a public officer used his office as the Medical Director,
Federal Medical Centre (FMC), Owo, Ondo state to confer a corrupt advantage
upon himself when he received the sum of Four Hundred and Thirty Thousand
Naira (#430.000.00) only, paid to him from the centre’s coffers for the purpose
of the procurement of a personal firearms licenced to him in his name.

COUNTS
STATEMENT OF OFFENCE

DOING AN ACT PREPARATORYto the use of office to confer corrupt
advantage uponself, contrary to section 26(1) (b) and punishable under Section
19 of the Corrupt Practices And Other Related Offences Act, 2000. .

PARTICULARS OF OFFENCE

YUSUF SAKA OLANRENWAJU (M) on the 2™ day of the month of October,

2009 or thereabout while being- a public officer with the Federal Medical

Centre, Owo, Ondo State in preparation of Olufemi Abiodun Omotosho’s

commission of the offence of the use of his office as the Medical Director FMC,
Owoto confer a corrupt advantage upon himself, did apply for the provision and
payment of funds in the sum of Two Million Four Hundred And Sixty Four
Thousand Naira (#2.464,000) only, to him from the coffers of the FMC for the
purpose of procurement of a personal 27KVA Perkins brand sound proof
generator set for himself.
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- YUSUF SAKA OLANRENWAJU (M) and OLUFEMI ABIODUN
OMOTOSHO (M) in the month of October, 2009 or thereabout, did conspire
with each other to commit a criminal offence to wit: the use of office to effect
the conferment of a corrupt advantage upon Olufemi Abiodun Omotosho by,
receipt of the sum of Two Million Four Hundred And Sixty Four Thousand
Naira (#2.464.000) onlypaid to him from the coffers of FMC for the purpose of
procurement of a personal 27 KVA Perkins brand sound-proof generator set for
himself. '

COUNT 7
STATEMENT OF OFFENCE

ABATEMENT OF THE USEof office to commit an offence contrary to
Section 26(1)(c) and punishable under Section 19 of the Corrupt Practices
Act.2000

PARTICULARS OF OFFENCE

YUSUF SAKA OLANRENWAJU (M) in the month of October, 2009. did abet
the commission of the use of office to effect the conferment of a carrupt
advantage upon self by OlufemiAbiodunOmotosho(M) when he applied tor the
approval and provision of funds in the sum ol Two Million Four Hundred And
Sixty Four Thousand Naira (#2,464,000) from the coffers of FMC for the
purpose of procurement of a personal 27 KVA Perkins brand sound-proof
generator set for OlufemiAbiodunOmotosho’s private use at his residence.

The defendants pleaded not guilty to all counts of the charge and trial
commenced with the prosecution calling two (2) witnesses while the 17



he aforementioned customers; particulars of three special transaction that
*transpired between January 2009 and December, 2010 with reference to .
" gement of #2.200.000(Two Million Two Hundred Thousand Naira) on
50209 from FMC overhead account to Dr. Omotosho’s personal account, the
«um of #430.000 (Four Hundred And Thirty Thousand Naira), on 6" October
5009 and the sum of 2,464,000 (Two Million Four Hundred and Sixty Four
Thousand ) which was a NEFT (Nigeria Electronic Transfer) from FMC
account domiciled in FCMB to Dr. Omotosho’s personal current account

through the records from their archives.

The following documents were tendered and admitted into evidence: 1
Mandate Opening Account Card of Dr. Omotosho marked exhibit P;
NEFT credit report generated on the 14/4/17 marked as exhibit P2;

Current account no 2002843991 of Dr.Omotosho marked as exhibit P3:

Overhead account Qf FMC Owo marked as exhibit P4:

Certificate of compliance in line with the provision of Section 84 of the
Evidence Act marked exhibit P5

The witness stated that the statement of account for Federal Medical Centre.
Owo the three transactions requested by ICPC were underlined for case of
reference.
.

I'he first defendant did not cross-examine the witness. The witness stated when

O = SOl : > > ‘ h ? N \
cross-examined by the 2" defendant’s counsel that their central server is not
located in Owo, it is at the head office.
He said he is not the person operating the server from Owo but only did the

print out as every member of stafl of first bank can retrieve information from
the server. He further stated that he did not personally post any of the



tﬁm ‘was mizned W his lctm for dnhgam
identified the petition and same was tendered and

f

.c further testiﬂ‘ that investigation revealed that the two defendants
Sometimes in October, 2009 agreed that the 1% defendant should write a memo
requesting for approval of a 27K VA Silent Generator Perkins brand.

This was done without complying with the Procurement processes in
accordance with The Procurement Act as there were no contract award letter,
agreement. advertisement calling for bids tendering, opening procedure and bid

analyvsis to select the preferred bidder. ¢ p
He stated that their investigation revealed that there was no company known as

Messer Grato Engineering Ventures at no 51, Hospital Road. Akure who issued

the receiptinvoice for the purported Generating set, but a payment voucher that

did not go through the proper audit process to the tune of #2,464,000 was raised

for the generating set having the 2"defendant as the beneficiary.

He stated that a sum of #2,464,000 was moved [rom the pathology account of
FMC domiciled in FCMB to the personal account of the 2™ defendant
domiciled in First Bank Plc, Owo and there was no outflow of the said amount
to the vendor of the Generating set and no record was seen of the 27kva silent

generating set at the Federal Medical Centre Store.

The witness stated that their investigation revealed that Dr. Omotosho wrote a
request for the release of #430,000 for the purchase of fircarms and its licence
but no such request (purchase of fircarms and licence) was made to the oflice ot
the Inspector General of Police which is one of its requirements. He said a
payment voucher to the tune of #430,000 was discovered to have been raised for
firearms purchase in favour of the 2™defendant which sum was taken from
FMC overhead account domiciled in First Bank and paid to the 2"defendant
account with no evidence of such outflow from his account for such purchase

and no record of same at the store of the Centre.



he two defend: statements were tendered and same admitted into evidence k3
o defendant statement dated 9/2/11 was marked exhibit P7, 10/2/1 las exhibit § "=
- P7A. 11/3/11 exhibit P7B respectively.
7 ¢ statement of the 2" defendant dated 18/2/11 was marked exhibit P8.

X

%

f;l"he minutes of meeting of the Board of management FMC, Owo held 18/2/10.
241109, 23/4/09 were admitted and marked exhibit P9, P10 and P11
respectively.

PW2 tendered an e-payment mandate from First Bank Ple.Owo, dated 22/12/09
which was marked exhibit P12. &

He stated that the investigation team recovered the payment voucher for the sum
ol #430.000 in favour of Dr. Omotosho for the purchase of firearm and its
licence. The payment voucher dated 4/11/09 was admitted and marked exhibit

pl3.

He stated that the invoice and the payment voucher for processing the sum of
72,464,000 for the payment of a generating set in favour of Dr. Olufemi
Omotosho which was duly approved by the 2™ defendant and paid into his
account was recovered during investigation. Payment voucher dated 3/10/09 for
the sum of #2,464,000 and 2(two) attachments were admitted and marked
exhibits P14, P14A and P14B respectively,

Under cross cxamination by the 1™ defendant counsel. PW2 stated that 1™
defendant should ordinarily be answerable to the 2™ defendant in public service
and that there was no evidence that the 1" defendant benefitted from the sum of
#2.464.000.



nder cross examfnanon by the 2™ defendant counsel, sz stated that the 2™
defendant was the chief exccutive officer of the Centre at the material time. He
claimed that he is aware of the Federal Republic of Nigeria Financial
Regulations and that he is not aware there should be a competitive bidding in
any contract worth #7,000,000 and that he is not aware that non-compliance
with Procurement Act is only triable at the Federal High Court.

¥

He further said that analysis of the statement of the 2" defendant revealed that
he spent a sum of #2,200,000 on public relation. \

The 1% defendant in his statement admitted that he routed the payment for the
generator through 2" defendant being a direct purchase which must be through
a particular officer of the centre. He stated that he did not ask any member of
the Account department of the centre why the payment was made through y g5
defendant.

PW2 stated that he was one of the team who tried to locate No 51. Hospital
Road. Akure where the purported vendor’s address is located but such does hot
exist. The phone Nos on the invoice, he said never went through and no
response from Corporate Affairs Commission when enquires were made
regarding Grato Engineering company.

Witness testified that he did not have a copy of the letter written to the
Corporate Affairs Commission and that he did not go to MTN office to
ascertain the owners of the mobile phone numbers.

He reiterated the fact that there was no evidence of payment of any fircarms
whatsoever and no record of same at the FMC store. He stated that he is trained
t9 bea-r arms and there are things to consider before an application for fircarms
licensing can be considered which the 2" defendant did not follow.

Witness sai s AW s
s said he is not aware the 2 ddcndant applied for protection as Medical

Direct "
or and cannot recall if he ever asked 2™ "defendant to produce the fircarm



well as other duties that may be directed by the Medical
o dcfendull’

as
| that he knows why he is in court with the 2
mo he wrote on the behalf of the Medical Director on e

er stated that he wrote the memo on the instruction and

irector. He s
_because of the
“October, 2009 an
sctive of the 2™ defendant.

e said it is not , duty to ensure payment is effected to Grato Engineering

Venture as it is the duty of the account department. It is not also his duty to
“ensure the receipt of the Generator at the store.

1 cross examination by the 2™ defendant counsel he stated that the decision to

purchase the Generator is sequel to management decision. He said he is aware
that the Medical Director has power to award contract up (o #7,000,000 apart

1
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from Management's decisions.
The 2 defendant conducted the market survey; this he knew due to the
instruction given to him by the 2"defendant. He claims all correspondences
going 10 the centre are received at the Medical Director's office before it s

minuted to him.

;He maintained that the 2" defendant did not direct him to pay the money
directly to his own account and that he made exhibit P7 voluntarily as he was
not promised or given anything by the 2" defendant for raising the memo.

e

He claimed that fhe is not aware that the Centre had ever purchased any
generator for the use of the 2™ defendant. He said he knows S.A Ogunleye of
i ¢ : ¥ : ~ -
?\ccounls Department and Afolabi A. of Audit Department.

F‘On further cross examination by the prosecution counsel. the 1™ defendant
’rfncralcd that he knows C.A Omotola, who was the former Medical Director
Put could not remember the time of his tenure. He also stated that he knows the
late Dr. David A. Oguntuase who was the acting Medical Director after
Omou.)la and Dr. Omotosho succeeded Dr. Oguntuase who functioned in acting

capacity. b

.




fmmr the the organ isation of the oﬂi« of thc FMC are Board of §
anagement—Medical Director__ Heads of departments and Heads of units §

“And !'mln_\:. he adr itted that he attended the meetings in exhibits P10 and P11.

“ The 1" defendant then closed his case.
" The 2™ defendant rested his case on that of the prosecution and all the evidence
led so far.

Further documents were tendered with the consent of all parties and admitted
into evidence.

The certified true copy of the statement of Mr. Afolabi Williams dated 107211
marked exhibit D1- B
The certified true copy of the statement of Mr. S. A. Ogunleye dated 8/3/11
marked exhibit D2

The certified true copy of the statement of Mr. Abiodun Olawale dated 10/2°11
marked exhibit D3.

i

The defence there in after closed its case on the 8" of October, 2018.counsel to
both parties adopted their respective written addresses.

Addressing the court, counsel to the 1" defendant. Usman Shehu Obanimon Esq
formulated one issue for determination to wit; whether from the totality of
evidence adduced by the prosecution, the offence of conspiracy and corruption
against the 1™ defendant has been proved. On this issue, counsel submitted that
assuming without conceding that the said 27KVA Generator was not purchased
the 1" defendant cannot be held liable for it because he carried out the
ipstmclion of the chief executive officer of the centre which is in line with
section 2916(1) of the Finance (Control and Management) Act, Financial
Regulations Cap .26 LFN

% 10



he amount. He cited section 613 of the Finance Control and Manascmem Att

which provides that it is the duty of the paying officer to verify the recipient of
the sum received.

He stated further that there is no ¢redible evidence before the court to show that
the 1™ defendant benefitted from the money appropriated for the said Generator.

He urged the court to hold that the case of the prosecution before the court is
predicated on speculation which evidence cannot grant conviction.

He submitted that it is fundamental in our criminal justice administration that
suspicion however strong cannot take the place of legal proof as it does not
amount to proof and the slightest doubt must be resolved in favour of the
accused person. He cited the cases of RABIU VS STATE (2010) 10 NWLR
(PT 1201) 127 @ P155 PARA A-F, B-C; OLADOTUN VS SATE (2010) 15

NWLR (PT1217) 490 @ 521; ISAH VS STATE (2007) 12 NWLR (PT 1049)
382@ 605.

He finally urged the court to discharge and acquit the 1% defendant as the
prosecution failed woefully to discharge the burden of proof placed on him
against the 1™ defendant to warrant conviction in this case.

Also addressing the court, counsel to the 2" defendant. Femi
EmmanuelEmodamori distilled two issues for determination (o wit:

a) Whether the allegations against the defendants relating with the Public
Procurement Act which are directly or impliedly in issue in the case are
not outside the statutory jurisdiction of this court.

b) Whether, in any event the prosecution has proved its case against the
defendant beyond reasonable doubt as required by law.

The counsel submitted from the onset that the 2" defendant having extensively
cross examined and clicited useful evidence from the witnesses called by the
prosecution and the 1" defendant is deemed to have ¢ given evidence in law. He
cited OMISORE VS AREGBESOLA (2015)15 NWLR (PT 1482) 205 @321

11
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Prbcess as supuktéd in the Public Procurement Act 2007, Counsel stated that
PW2 both in his evidence in chiel and cross examination asserted that the }
procurement of the Perkins generator and fircarms did not follow the public
procurement process. Counsel argued that even though this court has the power f
to try offences under the Corrupt Practices& Other Related Offences Act, this
court does not have jurisdiction to make any finding relating to the alleged non
compliance with the Public Procurement Act, 2007 by any public officer.

He stated that only the Federal High Court has jurisdiction by virtue of section
38(1) &(2) of the Public Procurement Act, 2007. He further submitted that
evidence relating to non compliance with the public procurement Act which the \
prosecution proffered through PW2 was wrongly admitted by this court and |
should ipso facto be expunged from the record.

He urged the court to resolve issue 1 in favour of the 2" defendant.

On issue 2. he submitted that it is trite law that the prosecution has the duty to
prove its case beyond reasonable doubt in order to secure a conviction. He cited
the following cases JOHN VS STATE (2017) 16 NWLR (PT1591)304 @
331: STATE VS SANI (2018) 9 NWLR (PT 1624) 278 @295. He urged the
court 1o hold that any doubt as to the guilt of the accused must be resolved in
favour of the accused person with reference to the case of ADELEYE VS

STATE (2018) 3 NWLR (PT1446) 229 @251.

He further submitted that except in offences which are strict liability offences,
the prosecution must prove two-fundamental clements of an alleged offence in
order to establish the guilt of an accused person which are actusreus and
mensrea. He cited OLAIYA VS STATE (2018) 10 NWLR (PT1620) @24
PARA H

In relation to charge 1, Counsel submitted that the prosecution failed to prove
that the 2" defendant conferred any gratification or undue advantage on himself
or any of his relations or associates or any other public officer as envisaged in
SCCthl‘l 19 of ICPC Act. He further argued that Exhibit P8 categorically stated
that a sum of #2.200,000 was used to purchase gift for the Board of the Federal

e £
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secution failed topmntim&hci"defmbul
#2 200 000 was used for the purchase of the gifts was false
of S. 28(1)@)of ICPC Act as contained in count 3. He cited
E (2018) 11 NWLR (PT 1631) 453 @472 PARA A-B that
the court of law are courts of facts and law and should not decide a case on
marc conjecture or speculation, he urged the court to dismiss counts| and 3 of

i

L

lhe charge.

Counsel elucidated further that the prosecution failed to prove that the e
defendant conferred any corrupt advantage on himself or his relation or
associate in receiving the sum of #2,464, 000 from FMC Owo for the purchase
of a Perkins 27KVA generator for his residence. Counsel submitted that the
prosecution through its witnesses claimed that the 2" defendant received money
for the purchase of a generator but never did. The 2" defendant however in
exhibit P8 stated that the generator was the property of FMC and would be ‘
returned 1o the Centre at the expiration of his tenure. He argued that the -
defendant is statutorily empowered to award contract not more than 7 million
naira without the prior approval of the Board which was corroborated by exhibit
Dland that by the nature of the contract, being a direct purchase, it must be in
the name of an officer of the Centre.

Counsel urged the court to hold that the prosecution has failed to prove count
two having established that the generator was purchased and in the absence of
any evidence that the 2" defendant conferred any corrupt advantage on himself
or any of his relatives or associates in the purchase ol the generator.

On count four, counsel adopted the argument in relation to count 1&2 10 the
effect that the prosecution has the duty to prove that the 2" defendant gratified
or conferred undue advantages on himsell or any of his relatives or associates as
envisaged in S.19 of [CPC Act, Counsel submitted that the prosecution in one
breath alleged that there was no purchase of fircarm by the evidence of PW2 l

under Cross exammalmn when he said “there is no purchase of such fire arms, a

even the store recg,rd did not reveal the issuance of any firearms as procured” in gg
i



furthe itted that the investigating Officer never asked to see the

Cas it is prosecution who has the burden to prove that the 2"
deFendant did not purchase the fircarm and not the 2" defendant that has the
burden to prove that he purchased it. Counsel argued further that by section 7 i 7
(2) (a-¢) of the Fire Arms Act , only natural persons and not artificial entities | =
can apply for firearms licence, hence it could not have been licenced in the " 4

corporate name of FMC, OWO.

He submitted that on the premise of the totality of the above arguments. the
allegation of conspiracy against the 1% and 2" defendants in count 6 is
unfounded, biased, and/or unsubstantiated and urged the court to so hold and
finally prayed the court to discharge and acquit the 2™ defendant as prosecution
failed to prove its allegations against the 2" defendant beyond reasonable doubt

as required by law:

While adopting his written address on behalf of the prosecution, the Leamed

Prosecution Counsel, G P West formulated one issue for determination to wit,

whether from the evidence adduced in the course of the trial before the court.

the prosecution has proved its case beyond reasonable doubt as required by the

provisions of sections 135 & 139 of the Evidence Act, 2011.

Counsel addressed the sole issue based on the seven count charge.

On count one, he referred to exhibits P3& P4 pointing to the fact that the 2™ |
defendant received the sum in question in his personal account which was not
used for the purpose claimed as evidenced in exhibit PO9&P10 and P11. Thus, he
submitted that the 2" defendant conferred on himself a corrupt advantage by
receiving the sum in his account and not used for the claimed purpose which

does not exist and no refund was made to the Centre.

He argued that the claim by the 2" defendant that the sum was used as
Christmas gifts to members of the Board in exhibit P8 was untrue and

unfounded and there is no evidence to support this.

1A



A sum of #2, nt to |
distributed to Kabiyesi and other dignitaries in Owo and the decision was taken |
in the meeting by Mr Adebayo S.D, Mr Abiodun C.O and the MD. Counsel
submitted that by a careful perusal of exhibit P3, the sum in contention reflected
in the 2™ defendant’s account on 29/12/09 which sum was later drawn down
between 31/12/09-21/01/10. He concluded that the above shows the 2™
defendant to be the sole beneficiary of the payment of the sum rather than its

intended user.

CQunscI submitted that if the claim by the 2" defendant that the sum was
subsequently spent on Christmas gift is perceived to be true, it is in itself
wrongful as it goes contrary to S.22(5) ICPC Act prohibiting the expenditur.e of
funds earmarked for the execution of a specific project or service for any other
purpose. He urged the court to consider exhibits P8,P9,P10,P11.P12,P3 and P4
as reliable as held in the case. of AKINBISADE VS STATE(ZOO?) 2 NCC

T6@86.

5
4

He contended that the evidence of PW2 that the 2™ defendant used his office to
confer a corrupt édvantage upon himself was not challenged and urged the court
to order the 2™ defendant to restitute and forfeit the sum of #2,200,000 as
provided in S.47 of ICPC Act.

On count 2, counsel submitted that a combined perusal of exhibits Po, Pl4,
P14a, and P14b show the fact that a sum of#2,464.000, which was not in the
Centre Budget was paid to the 2" defendant for the purchase of a 27KVA
generating set which purchase never took place.

He urged the court 1o rely on the admission of the 2" defendant when he stated
that the Generating set was purchased in his name and that it was an error that it
did not go through the stores. He referred o the case of AKINMOJU VS
STATE (2000) 4 SC (PT 1)64 @067.

vl ¥ i o
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[.ecarned counsel referred to the Federal Government Treasury Circular with ref
no /A2 and B2/ 20090AGF/CAD/026v to show that the 2" defendant went
bevond his limit. He urged the court to invoke S. 47 ICPC Act 2000 by |

directing the 2™ defcndant to forfeit the sum fraudulently received.

On count 3, nunsel relied on the evidence adduced by PW2 in submitting that |
the 2™ defendant made statement which he knew not to be true to the
Investigating Police Officers when he said the sum of #2,200.000 received
from FMC was used for the purchase of Christmas gift. He submitted that by
imvestigation, there was no record of any gift bought with the sum as same was
not received nor disbursed by the store unit. Same claim could not be
substantiated by any existing records kept at FMC, Owo. He submitted that the
claim by the 2" defendant in exhibit P8 was not only false but equally untrue in
even materlal sense and had been made conscientiously with the intention to
mislead the investigating officers in the course of the performance of their

duties. He said this is corroborated in exhibit P9.

On count four, counsel referred to exhibits P2, P3, P4, P6, PEP9ad P13 m
submitting that the sum of #430,000 was paid to the 2" defendant private
account for the purchase of firearms which were never procured. He referred to |
the case of ABIODUN VS FRN (2018)11 (PT1629) 80@ 103:he submitted |
that by exhibits p9, p9a, pl0, there was no deliberation on the purported
firearms and licensing at the Board meeting. He stated that the purported
firearms procurement and its licence for security coverage at the 2™ defendant's
house was done in breach of rules 1401-1402 particularly rules 1402(11) of
chapter 14 as well as Federal Treasury Circular which set limits.

He further opined that the purchase of fircarms and its licensing was a capital
item which was not budgeted for nor found captured in the Appropriation for
Federal Medical Centre, Owo, as reflected in Appropriation Act, 2009.

Couniel referred to Exhibit p& and urged the court 1o rule on the adnnssnon of
the 27 defendant to have used the #430,000 to purchase firearm and its llCEﬂCt



\ el submitted that the content of exhibit P14 shows that the 1
defendant prcpam& the 2™ defendant in the commission of the crime by the 1"

and 2™ paragraphs which referred to a Board meeting which approved the use
of the sound proof generator and a market survey when none of the above
actually took place. He further referred to exhibits P9 and P10 in buttressing his

point that none of the meetings held at the time the memo was put up
contemplated such decision for purchase.

Counsel further urged the court to discountenance the testimony of the 1
defendant both on oath before the Honourable court and his extra judicial
statement. He referred to exhibits 9&10 and the case of ANYANWALE VS

ATANDA (1988) 1 NWLR (PT 68) 22 and EZEMBA VS IBENEME (2000) |
10 NWLR (PT 674)61 @ 74.

Counsel argued that the 1* defendant has admitted that exhibit 14B was
received at the 2™ defendant office before it was minuted to him. This. counsel
submitted shows a preparatory act by the 1* defendant for the commission of
the offence by the 2™ defendant as both of them only knew about the market
survey to the exclusion of other staff. He urged the court to hold that the 1%
defendant having pht up exhibit P14 admits the content and intendment and the
court should conveniently take same as established and act on it as held in
ADEGBUYI VS APC (2015) 2 NWLR (PT 1442) 1.

Counsel argued that the 1* defendant was guilty of the offence as the pricd of
the 27KVA generator was not a capital item in the FMC Appropriation as
contained in the FMC Budget.

Counsel referred to the extract’in the Appropriation Act, 2009 and juxtaposed

5

same with approved appropriation for similar expenditure by Sister FMC |

centres in Ekiti, Lagos and Bayelsa and submitted that the 1%defendant

b 1 b 4 3 g %
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tacmtated the 2“d defendant in the commission ol the offence having knowingly

put up exhibit P14 He prayed the court to enter a verdict of guilt against the |

l defendant as chargcd
om



-« purchase was either contemplated, purchased or delivered

ex!nblt Pl4 no I
d%e Centre’s store or the private residence of the 2" defendant.

Cwnsel further submitted that the proof by the 1™ defendant that he received no
pet,fuman beneh fmm the sum disbursed cannot avail him as this is immaterial |
in_ proving his commission of the offence. He therefore referred to

BABALOLA VS STATE (1989) 4NWLR (PT115) 264@ 293

He contended that the defendants by exhibits P7, P7B and P8 had admitted their
individual roles in the entire transaction culminating in their commission of the
said offences. He argued that the 2" defendant lack the power to award contract
up to #7.000.000 naira and urged the court to find the defendants guilty as

-~

charged.
On count Seven, Learned Counsel submitted that conspiracy is different from
abatement. In conspiracy, the crime consist simply in the agreement or confide

to do some act, no matter whether it is done or not while in abatement. the
mtention to do same is acted upon. KAZA VS STATE (2008) 7 NWLR (PT

1085) 154.

He further argued that the content of the 1% defendant’s internal memo in
exhibit P14 facilitated and assisted the 2" defendant in bringing to fruition the
commission of the offence of his use of office to confer a corrupt advantage

upon himself.

He urged the court to hold that the prosecution has proved its case and should
enter a verdict of guilt against the 1™ defendant as charged.

He further contended that the 1" defendant should not escape liability on his
assertion that he carried out the orders of his superior which were grossly and
manifestly illegal. :

The 1" defendant, he said is only bound to obey and comply with law ful orders
as he is responsible for the consequences of any illegal act. He cited NWAOGA
VS STATE (1972) 1 ALL NLR (1) 149 AND NIGERIAN AIRFORCE VS|
K)\MALDEEN (200'7) TNWLR (PT 1037) 1064.

¥
e ——

18




authority of OMISORE VS AREGBESOLA (SUI'RA) when he submittid
that the 2™ dcfcndﬁnt should be presumed to have given evidence in law dunng
the fausc of this trial when he chose to rest his case on that of the prosecution.

e citecd ADEKUNLE VS STATE (2015)14 NWLR (PT1000) 717where the
court held that where the prosecution has by credible evidence of its wnness(es) (

proved its case beyond reasonable doubt, then the accused person cannot wrn :
around to complain that the court did not consider his defence where he opts not

to testify and rest his case on that of the prosecution.

'\";!3»
.P" v s

Ihe Counsel further submitted that the postulation by the defendant’s counsel
that it is Federal High Court that can exercise jurisdiction on this matter based
on the assertion of PW2 during his evidence when he said the 2™ defendant

e

breached the Public Procurement Act is misconceived.

v

Ile maintained that the law imposes upon the prosecution a duty and a
discretion tochoose which court to initiate criminal prosecution against any
defendants. He therefore submitted that the assertion by the defendant's counsel

that this Court lacks jurisdiction is misconceived. He cited LAYINWOLA &

ORS VS R (1959) NSCC 95.

The | defendant in addressing the court on points of law submitted that the
prosecution failed in proving his case against the [ defendant particularly on
the charge of conspiracy having failed to prove the requisite ingredients.” He
cited KAZA VS STATE SUPRA)

The above represents the conspectus of evidence adduced as well as the written
addresses of counsel. i
The issue, whether or not the prosecution has prov ed the charges against the
Defendants beyond reasonable doubt capture all the issues identified by both

AT

partics.
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end to the litigation.

Where a court také upon itself to exercise jurisdiction which it does not have.
its decision amounts to a nullity. See ATTAH VS. IDI (2015) 2 NWLR PT
14433852391, OSADEBAJ VS, A.G BENDEL (1991) 1 NWLR (PT169)

325

- -

I'he 2™ defendant's counsel had submitted that this court lacks jurisdiction 1o

entertain this matter as evidence led by the prosecution substantially relates o, ;i
non-compliance with public procurement which should ordinarily be tried at

the Federal High Court by virtue of section 58 (1&2) of the Public Procurement

Act

| am of the firm opinion that the charges before me against the defendants as |
could be gleaned from the Information and evidence led, were brought pursuant
t0 The Corrupt Practices And Other Related Offences Act, 2000 which by |
virtues of section 61(3)of the Act provides as follows:

" The Chief Judge of a State or the High Court of the Federal Capital
Abuja shall, by order under his hand, designate a court or Judge ot

<uch number of courts or Judges as he shall deem appropriate to hear
and determine all cases of bribery, corruption, fraud, or other related
offences arising under this Act or any other laws prohibiting fraud,
bribery or corruption; a court or Judge so designated shall not, while *
being so designated, hear or determine any other cases provided that
all cases of fraud. bribery or corruption pending inany court betore
the commg into cfie«.t of this Act shall continue (o be heard and

determined by that court’

0
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| secent the views expressed by the court in Onatorio Oil& Gas Ltd vs. FRN

(2018) 13 NWLR PT 1636@226 where it was held that the additional }
.iurisaiction vested fn the Federal High Court by scction 251(3) of the '
Constitution of the Federal Republic of Nigeria. 1999 as amended is not to oudt ?
the jurisdiction vested in the State High Court to try Federal Offences by other
provisions of the Constitution as there cannot be room for a situation of Federal

Justice and State Justice; there can only be justice according to the Laws of

Nigeria.

One of the rules of interpretation is expression uniusest exclusion alterius (the
express mention of one thing, is the exclusion of the other). Unlike section 251
(1) of the 1999 Constitution, as amended, which excludes the jurisdiction of the
High Court in Federal Revenue matters, same is not the situation under section
251 (3) of the 199 9 Constitution as amended.

Section 286(2)(b) of the 1999 Constitution, (as amended) unambiguously vests
in the State High Court of a state jurisdiction with respect to the investigation.
mquiry into or trial of persons charged with federal offences. Thus, what the
constitution has expressly vested in the High Court of a state, nobody by
whatever altruistic or opportunistic argument can take away. .

| find the decision in the case of ADEKANYE KOMOLAFE VS. FRN (2018)
IS NWLR PT 1643@5070f great importance to the above issue when the court
held that by the provision of section 6 of the Corrupt Practices And Other
Related Offences Act, 2000, it is the duty of the Independent Corrupt Practices
Commission to prosecute offenders and by section 26(2),every prosecution for
an offence under the Act shall be deemed to have been initiated by the Attorney

General of the Federation.
‘ ‘

It follows therefore that any criminal case initiated by the commission (1CPC) 1s
in fact initiated by the Attorney General of the Federation. Thus, criminal
proceedings can be initiated in any court of the federation other than a court
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On ﬂi strength of :7 above submission, I therefore hold that this court has T
jurisdiction to cntertam this matter. ‘
Therefore, the submission by the 2" defendant’s counsel to expunge exhibits

tendered by the prosecution witnesses relating to Procurement process for lack
of jurisdiction has no merit in view of my decision above that this court has

jurisdiction. And I so hold.

The prosecution counsel also submitted that the court should hold that the 2 >

defendant did not challenge/ contradict the evidence before this court when he
rested his case on that of the prosecution and also failed to give evidence for
himself nor call any witness on his behalf.

It is trite that one of the options available to a Defendant in a criminal
proceeding when called upon to open his defence is by resting his case on that
of the prosecution.

The 2" defendant in this case has therefore acted within his right by resting his
case on that of the prosecution and all exhibits tendered.

This is in tandem with the decision of the court in the case of BLAISE VS.
FRN (2017) 6 NWLR PT 1560@]128 wherein it was decided that by resting his
case on the prosecution’s case, the accused adopts the evidence led by the
prosecution in its entirety and declines to give evidence or call witness in his
defence which must succeed or fail upon such evidence adduced by the
prosecution. L

s damad

'l'hejf:oun further held that where this procedure is adopted, the accused or his
counsel is Lo address the court on all relevant matters raised; the effect of which
s that the accused cannot subsequently have an opportunity of calling witnesses
in the course of the proceedings and the court is to deliver a final judgment.
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| | my decision by addressing the seven count charge before
) line with the adopted issues in resolving this judicial discourse.

fine to the sum of #2,200,000.00 is found in exhibits P3&P4

which reveal the outflow of the sum from FMC, Owo into the 2" defendant’s
account. I also take judicial notice of Exhibit P8 which is the extra judicial
confessional statement of the 2™ defendant admitted into evidence without

objection when he (2™ defendant) stated inter alia....
....... THE 2,200,000 IN 22" DECEMBER 2009 WAS USED TO

PURCHASE GIFTS FOR THE. BOARD OF MANAGEMENT OF FMC, !
OWO FOR CHRISTMAS GIFTS............ (EMPHASIS MINE) 1‘

It has long been established that the prosecution is duty bound to prove its case
bevond reasonable doubt as there is never a duty on the accused to prove his ‘

innocence under any circumstances. \

Indeed. section 135 of the Evidence Act provides:

1) 11 the commission of a crime by a party to any proceeding is directly in issue
in any proceeding civil or criminal, it must be proved beyond reasonable doubt.

2) The burden of proving that anybody has been guilty of a crime or wrongful
act is. subject to section. 139 of this Act, on the person who asserts it, whether
the commission of such act is or not directly in issue in the action.

3) 1f the prosecution proves a crime beyond reasonable doubt, the burden of
proving reasonable doubt is shifted on the Defendant.

See the case of GANA VS, FRN (2018) 12 NWLR PT 1@302.

D AL

A careful perusal of evidence before the court corroborated the above when
Ogunleve S.A (the then Senior Accountant) stated that the 2" defendant
distributed the sum under contention to the Kabiyesi and other dignitaries in
Owo as Christmas gift which decision he said was taken in a meeting attended
by Mr. S.D Adebayo(the then Assistant Director of Finance and supplies), Mr
C.0. Abiodun (the then Director of Administration) and the 2™ defendant,. .
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¢ of OKE VS, FRN (2017) § NWLR PT 1556@501
s must be proved in establishing the offence in section
) Wﬁ-chces And Other Related Offences Act, 2000; to wit:

&
(a) That the accused is a public officer
(b) That the accused person used his office or position to confer corrupt

advantage upon himself or any relation or associate of the public officer

or any other public officer.

In the instant case, although it was established that the 2" defendant is a public ;
officer within the context of Section 2 of The Corrupt Practices And Other

Related Offences Act, 2000, it was not however proved that the 2™ defendant
conferred corrupt advantage upon himself or any relation or associate of the

public officer or any other public officer. This finding square up with the

evidence led in respect of this charge.

s A

It1s therefore my view that the second essential ingredient of the offences under
section 19 of The Corrupt Practices And Other Related Offences Act. 2000 has
not been proved as required by sections 135&139 of the Evidence Act. 2011.

tam further of the opinion that the submission by the prosecution that if the
cI.u_ix.n by the 2" defendant that the sum was subsequently spent on Christmas
giltis perceived to be true, the defendant is prohibited by section 22(3) of The
Corrupt Practices And Other Related Offences Act, 2000 to have used the fungs
cu'rmurkcd for another purpose does not hold water as this is not the case before
this court

I ‘rcl‘cr to the previous case of OKE VS, FRN (Supru) where the Supreme
Court held that the trial Judge missed the point when he convicted the accused
on a charge not before him. In this instant case, the charge in count | never
alleged the 2" defendant to have used the funds e wmarked for another purpose
(Which allegation was not proved) but rather on conferment of corrupt

£
g

i€
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The prosecution thrgugh its witness, PW 2(the investigating officer) and by the
ro ution written address argued that a sum of #2,464,000 was never used by
the 2™ defendant for the purchase of the 27K VA sound proof Perkins Generator
and i another evidence/submission argued that the 2™ defendant went beyond

his limit in purchasing the generator which should have been through the award

of contract and prayed the court to rely on the admission of the 2™ defendant in

exhibit p8 that he bought the generator which is the property of the Federal
Medical Centre, Owo and same will be returned after the expiration of his

enure as the Medical Director. What more need be proved?
" B
Ihe court has held in plethora of cases that admitted facts should be taken as

cotablished. See the case of CHUKWUNYERE VS, STATE (2018) 9 NWLR
PT 1620 269,

| am therefore of the opinion that the Prosecution has failed in establishing the
oltence of conferment of corrupt advantage as provided in section 19 of The
Corrupt Practices And Other Related Offences Act, 2000,

Ihe 17 Defendant who is also a staff of FMC had testified that the 2™ defendant
had the power to award a contract up to #7,000,000 without the prior approval
ol the Board: this the prosecution did not also proffer any contrary evidence 10

rebut the assertion by the 1™ Defendant,
I also find the provision of the Federal Treasury Circular Relf'No
[RY/AZ&DB2/2009 OAGE/CAD/O3OV cited by the prosecution in proving that

L qtlv! Ny ) J . . T . >
the 2% defendant went beyond his limit in the purchase of the generator 1o be at
variance with the issue at hand as the law relates to approval of funds to imprest
holder.
L turther refer to the case of OKE VS, FRN (supra) where the court faid down

two major ingredients that must be proved i establishing the offence insection
19 of The Corrupt Practices And Other Related Offences Act, 20005 to wit:
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| that the prosecution failed to prove the 2™ essential ingredient of the 2"
1t charge against the 2™ defendant beyond reasonable doubt.

On count three, | beliéve by the evidence before the court that the statement by
the 2™ defendant to the investigating officers of ICPC that the sum of
£2.200.000 received by him was used for the purchase of Christmas gifts to
some Owo dignitaries can only amount to a position by the 2" defendant which
the prosecution has a duty to rebut by evidence.

The statement made by the 2™ defendant to my mind, was not untrue nor
intended to mislead in any material particular.

10 succeed on this count charge, the prosecution by section 25(1) of The .
Corrupt Practices And Other Related Offences Act, 2000 must show that the
statement made was not consistent with any other statement previously made o
any other person having authority. This was not proved by the prosccution.

The evidence by PW2, Exhibit P8, Exhibit D3 and 2" defendant's counsel
submission all point to one claim and there was no Inconsistency whatsoeyer.

i A ———

The law is trite that suspicion, no matter how strong, cannot take the place ol
egal proof. Items of evidence raising suspicion which puts together, do not
have the quality of being corroborated evidence to ground any conviction for a
criminal offence. See the case of UDOR VS, STATE (2014) 2 NWLR
PT1422.

| therefore hold that prosecution failed to prove count 3 against the 2"
defendant.

On count Four, | find that there were contradictions in the evidence of the
) i Hnectit hafare thie s . - | . .
Prosecution witnesses before this court when he said the 2™ defendant did not
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sed it in his n
and same wul
¢ Centre.

rctumed at the end of his tenure as

It s also before the court that the 2™ defendant is empowered to award contract

below #7.000.000 which was not otherwise proved by the prosecution.
k

I hg'w'c\'cr find that the purchase of the firearms may not have been discussed in
I xhibits p9. p9A &P10 being within the limit of the Medical Director's power.

| therefore adopt my decision in Counts 1& 2 above to the effect that even
though the Tst ingredient of count 4 was proved (that the 2" defendant is a
Public Officer). I hold that the prosecution failed to prove beyond reasonable
doubt the second essential ingredient of the 4™ count charge against the 1
defendant that he used his office or position to confer corrupt advantage upon
himself. Lk

The next point of cali is count five.

"1 1

The prosecution counsel had submitted before this court that the content of
Exhibit pl4 shows that the first defendant had prepared the 2" defendant in the
commission of the crime.

I'he prosecution did not further prove the preparatory act alleged against the
|“defendant. | am of the opinion that the putting up of exhibit p14 by the 1™
defendant cannot amount to preparing the 2" defendant for the commission of
crime. .

: ‘ . } ae
It 1s on record that the 1"defendant was a subordinate to the 2™ defendant at the
Federal Medical Centre, Owo.

The prosecution had however argued that the 1Mdefendant is to be liable tor any
ilegal nstruction carried out in the course of his duty.

R

From the facts/ evidence before this court, 1 hold the view that the 1™ defendant
carried out a lawful duty by putting up exhibit pl4. The prosecution did not
show that it was not normal to have first received correspondences at the
Médicul Director’s office before minuting it to the appropriate oflicer to act

R
LiRRAL
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fendant,

rmore, on co | six of the information, the prosecution counsel whmuw '
L the defendants by Exhibits P7, P7B, P8(which are the confessional
statg;_*nems of the defendants) had admitted their individual roles in the entire

transaction culminating in their commission of the criminal offence of :
conspiracy.

I have carefully perused the said exhibits and it is my humble

view that such L
admissions as claimed by the prosecution do not ¢xist,

It was held in the case of ERIN VS THE STATL (1994) 5 N.W.L.R. (364)
525 @ S34thatconspiracy is generally a matter of inference from the collateral
circumstances of the case. Sometimes, there may be no direct evidence of an
agreement between the accused persons, in such circumstances, the infere
conspiracy can only be made from the facts and circumstance of the ;
commission of the substantive offence.

nce of

I'totally agree with the decision of the court in the case of FRN VS. MAGAJI

IBRAHIM AND IBRAHIM GANGYIBENSO (2015) 4 NWLR PT
1450@ 436 when the court held that inference can be made for the offence of
conspiracy. However, inference cannot be made in vacuum, but by considering '
the evidence before the court.

In this instant case, there was no cirecumstantial evidence, Viva Voce or
documentary which allows the drawing ol inference ol conspiracy against the

defendants. See the case of FRN VS SANI2014) 16 NWLR PT 1433@33 I

Furthermore, 10 prove conspiracy which is a criminal offence,

the proot must be
beyond reasonable doubt.

acham ol causation which must not be
AL-MUSTAPHA VS, STATE (2013) 17

Fhere must be
broken. See the case ol HAMZA

NWLR PT 1383,

na

BRA 8



hrosecution d s‘ ot prove that the content of |
assisted the 2™ defendant in the commission of the offence of the use of o
o wnfer corrupt advmtage

[
£

H ing decided that the prosecution failed to prove the offence of criminal
conspiracy against the defendants, 1 hold that count 7 on abetment has not also E

been proved.

In the light of the foregoing, this court holds that the prosecution had failed to

prove cach of the seven count charge against the defendants beyond reasonable
doubt and as such, failed to discharge the burden of proof required by sections
135& 139 of the Evidence Act. i

LEMW 1
Befon rounding up thls judgment, it is pertinent to point out that the facts and

circumstances of thlS case also have shown beyond conjecture that the ‘
Defendants herein have not been sufficiently linked to the Criminal intent
associated with the information before the court.

Although it is not-essential to prove the case with absolute certainty. the
ingredients of the offence charged must, however, be proved as required by law
and to the satisfaction of the court. See OBIAKOR VS. STATE (2002) 10
NWLR (PT 776)612,627; NWOKEDI VS. COP (1977) 3 SC, 35,40; AMEH
VS. THE STATE (1973) 7 SC,27; KALU VS. THE STATE (1988) 4 NWLR
(PT 90)503 AND ARUNA VS. THE STATE (1990) 6 NWLR (PT 159)125,

These authorities, find expression in the latin maxim ‘iudicisofficiumest de
judicisestjudicaresecundumallegata et probata’ which, simply means that it
i1s the duty of a judge to decide according to facts alleged and proved.

From the examination of the prosecution’s allegation as evidenced in the charge
against the defendant(s) before this court and my meticulous consideration of
the totality of the evidence in proof thereol as per the testimonies of PW1, PW2
and all the exhibits, I harbour grave and genuine doubt about the story of the
prosecution as it failed to lead compelling evidence in proof of the ingredients

of ‘hf offences which the defendants allegedly committed.

—~i %
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